Fortenberry v. USA Doc. 52

INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT FOR THE
WESTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI
WESTERN DIVISION

JOHN RICHARD FORTENBERRY, JR., )

)
Movant, )
)
V. ) Casd&No. 15-0280-CV-W-DGK
) (Crim.No. 13-CR-00076-W-DGK-1)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
)
Respondent. )

ORDER DENYING MOTION TO VACATE, SET ASIDE, OR CORRECT SENTENCE

Movant John R. Fortenberry, JtFortenberry”) pled guilty taise of an interstate facility
to attempt to entice a mor to engage in sexuacttivity, in violation of18 U.S.C. § 2422(b). He
was sentenced to a 324-month term of imprisoim@&ow before the Qurt are Fortenberry’s
Motion to Vacate, Set Aside, or Correct Semde under 28 U.S.C. § 2255 (Doc. 1), Motion to
Amend (Doc. 11), Second Motion to Amend (Doc. 24), Motion for an Evidentiary Hearing (Doc.
29), Third Motion to Amend (Doe¢tl1), and Motion for Copies (Dod5). The Court previously
denied Grounds Two, Three, Four, and Six aftéberry’s motions. TéCourt heard evidence
on Grounds One and Five at a hearing on November 22, 2016. For the reasons set forth below,
the Court finds these arguments to be without merit, and Fortenberogiens are DENIED.
Additionally, the Court DENES Fortenberry a Cerittiate of Appealability.

Background

On February 20, 2013, Fortenberry was charged with use of an interstate facility to
attempt to entice a minor to engage in sexualigtiin violation of 18U.S.C. § 2422(b) (Crim.
Doc. 1). On March 3, 2013, a superseding indiatnobarged Fortenbermyith use of a facility

of interstate commerce to attempt to coerce an indiVigluder the age of ghteen to engage in
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sexual activity, in violation o8 U.S.C. § 2422(b) (Count I); trsfer of obscenenatter to an
individual under the age of sixteen, in viabex of 18 U.S.C. § 1470 (Count Il); and committing
the former offenses at times when he was requaoedgister as a sex offder, in violation of 18
U.S.C. 8§ 2260A (Count IIl) (CrimDoc. 2). On November 2@013, Fortenberry pled guilty to
Count | of the indictment, pursuant tevatten plea agreement (Crim. Doc. 24).

The plea agreement sets out the following fddbaais for the plea. In January of 2013,
an acquaintance of Fortenberry’s contacted Flederal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) in
Memphis, Tennessee, to report that Fortenberry iwacontact with a 12-year-old girl (“Jane”)
residing in Kansas City, Missourdnd was planning to travel to Kansas City to meet Jane in
person. FBI agents located and interviewed Jane, who admitted to exchanging nude photographs
and videos with Fortenberry avéhe Internet. After obtainindane’s cell phonerBI agents
discovered approximately 1,200 text messabesveen her and Fortenberry, a video of
Fortenberry masturbating, and nysteotographs of Jane. Text ssage conversations indicated
that Fortenberry intended to travel to Kansaty @ meet and have sex with Jane. In an
interview, Jane stated that she and Fortegbheould communicate ovehe Internet and phone,
Fortenberry had plans to visit Kansas City tedhaex with her, and she knew that Fortenberry
was a registered sex offemddPlea Agrmnt. at 4.

The plea agreement also contains an esgmwaiver of appellate and post-conviction
rights. Id. § 15. This waiver states:

The defendant expressly waivies right to appeal his sent@) directly or collaterally,

on any ground except claims of (1) ineffeetigssistance of counsel; (2) prosecutorial

misconduct; or (3) an illegal sentence. ‘Alegal sentence” includes a sentence imposed
in excess of the statutory maximum, but slo@t include less serious sentencing errors,

such as a misapplication of the SentendBgdelines, an abuse of discretion, or the
imposition of an unreasonable sentence.



The United States Probation Office theregared a presentence investigation report
(“PSR”) (Crim. Doc. 25). The PSR reported tHzdsed on a total offense level of thirty-seven
and a criminal history category of V, Fortentyés Guidelines range was 324 to 405 montlis (

1 55). The Court agreed with this calculatenmd subsequently sentenced Fortenberry to 324
months’ imprisonment, to be followed by a life term of supervised release (Crim. Doc. 32).

Fortenberry then filed the instant motion&. majority of his asserted grounds for relief
were ruled on the basis of the existing rec{ibc. 49). Because Fortenberry challenged
counsel’s failure to file a reqated appeal, an evidentiargdring on that matter was held on
November 22, 2016See Witthar v. United Sates, 793 F.3d 920, 923-24 (8th Cir. 2015). The
Court then heard evidence on the remaining two grounds for relief. Both Fortenberry and his
former counsel, Ryan Reymd (“Counsel”), testified.

Fortenberry’s testimony was not credible andonsistent with his allegation that he
unequivocally told Counsel to file a direct appedor example, he repeatedly stated that his
direction to file an appeal was “implied.” While fiest indicated that hevished to appeal at his
sentencing, his testimony about later meetings @idhnsel made clear that he wished to attack
his sentence on the basis of ineffective assistahceunsel, and not on the basis of any claims
that could be brought via direct appeal:

Assistant U.S. Attorney Moore (“AUSA"}However, you did not—the waiver that you

agreed to said you could not appthe sentence as long awds in the statutory range of

punishment?

Fortenberry: Yes ma’am. | understood that.

AUSA: You knew you could not apjl the sentence; correct?

Fortenberry: Correct.



AUSA: Okay. And so you asked Mr. Reynoltts—or you at least implied to him |
believe you testified that you wanted to agder ineffective assistance of counsel?

Fortenberry: Yes, ma’am.
AUSA: And, in fact, that's whagou’re doing today; correct?
Fortenberry: Yes ma’am.

AUSA: And Mr. Reynolds told you if you we ahead and did thdte would not be
offended; correct?

Fortenberry: Correct.

AUSA: And you had no agreement that MReynolds was going to appeal his own
ineffective assistance of counsel claim, did you?

Fortenberry: No ma’am.

AUSA: You were—I think you said you impliedtid him. He told you he wouldn’t be
offended, and you were hoping he would something; is that correct?

Fortenberry: That's correct.

AUSA: And, in fact, you filed someiing which brought ubere today?
Fortenberry: Correct.

AUSA: So you did not ask hito appeal the sentence?

Fortenberry: I—no. | just &l want to appeal this.

AUSA: Okay. But you specifically did natsk him to appeal the sentence?
Fortenberry: No. | justaid | want to appeal.

AUSA: You—and again, the only—I believe you said the only thing that you wanted to
appeal was ineffectivassistance of counsel?

Fortenberry: Yes, ma’am.
Tr. Excerpt at 2-4 (Doc. 51). After this@&ange, the Court obsed that Fortenberry
understood the difference betweardirect appeal and the motitve wished to file, a § 2255

motion based on ineffective assistance of counsel.



Fortenberry also testified thabunsel did not inform him of the possibility of an 8-level
enhancement under USSG 8§ 2G1)&p prior to accepting the plea agreement. While he
indicated that he “definitely” would have wi&d to know about the enhancement prior to
entering into the plea agreement, he never allégatdhe would have proceeded to trial had he
been given this information. He was awardahd benefit of his plea agreement—specifically,
that he avoided the imposition of charges exposing him to an increased statutory range.
Fortenberry also testified that he was fullyaae the sentencing guidelines were advisory, that
his sentence was within the statytrange, and that he could legally receive up to a life sentence
on the count charged.

Counsel then took the stand. His testimony e@ssistent with his affidavit (Doc. 9-1)
and credible, both because his demeanorcatdd he was being honest and because his
testimony was corroborated by Fortenberry’s.

Standard

To establish that counsel’ssistance was constitutionallyefifiective, a petitioner must
show that: (1) counsel's performze was deficient; and (2) thefidéent performance prejudiced
the defense Srickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984Both prongs of th&rickland
test must be satisfied to obtain reliédl. at 697.

To establish prejude under the secorfdrickland prong, the petitioner “must show that
there is a reasonable probabilttyat, but for counsel’sinprofessional errorghe result of the
proceeding would have been different3trickland, 466 U.S. at 694. “In order to demonstrate
prejudice where, as here, a petitioner challenges the validity of his guilty plea, the petitioner must
show ‘that there is a reasonalgebability that, buffor counsel’s errors, he would not have

pleaded guilty and would havesisted on going to trial.” United Sates v. Frausto, 754 F.3d



640, 643 (8th Cir. 2014) (quotirtgill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985)).

Discussion

Two grounds for relief remain: Ground One alleges that Fortenberry was denied effective
assistance of counsel becauseuhequivocally told histtorney to file a dect appeal and his
attorney failed to do so; and Ground Five alketeat Fortenberry’s ph was involuntary due to
his attorney’s failure to inform him that &dlevel enhancement under United States Sentencing
Guidelines (“USSG”) § 2G1.3(b)(5nay apply at sentencing.

Fortenberry’s testimony makes clear that reerdit unequivocally direct Counsel to file a
direct appeal. In fact, Fortenberry indicatedCmunsel that he wished to collaterally attack his
sentence based on ineffective assistance of counsel. Because Fortenberry’s allegation that he
directed Counsel to file an a@las directly refutd by his testimony, the Court denies relief on
Ground One.

The Court also denies relief on Ground Fiwothing in the recoréhdicates Fortenberry
would have proceeded to trial tbior Counsel’s failure to inform him of the possible 8-level
sentencing enhancement. Not once at the hearihgattenberry even allege that he would have
proceeded to trial had he been aware ofpbssible 8-level sentencing enhancement prior to
entering his plea. He further tifistd that he understood theeal agreement benefited him, and
that he faced a greater-thliie- statutory maximum had he gorie trial. Even assuming,
arguendo, that Counsel’s performance was deficiémtrtenberry has not established that he was
prejudiced by this performance. &rise Fortenberry fails to satisfy b@inickland prongs, 8

2255 relief is denied on Ground Five.

! This enhancement applies if the defendant was convicted under 18 U.S.C. § 2422(b) and the offense involved a
minor who had not attaindtie age of 12 years.



Conclusion
Accordingly, relief under Grounds One akive is DENIED. Because the Court's
resolution of Fortenberry’s claims are not “deltdd among jurists of reason,” a certificate of
appealability is also DENIEDSee Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 336 (2003).
IT 1SSO ORDERED.
Date: November 29, 2016 /sl Greg Kays

GREGKAYS, CHIEFJUDGE
UNITEDSTATESDISTRICT COURT




